Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-14-2012

Goodspeed v. Shippen Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38829

2. INTRODUCTION
3. THE LEGAL STANDARD REGARDING THE RULING FOR A NEW TRIAL IS ABUSE OF
DISCRETION
4. THE DISTRICT COURT MANIFESTLY ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING A NEW
TRIAL ON PLAINTIFFS IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY CLAIM
THE "WAIVER" ISSUE
6. NATURE OF THE TUSCH CASE26
7. IT WAS MANIFEST ERROR FOR THE DISTRICT COURT TO OVERTURN THE JURY'S
VERDICT
8. THERE IS NO BASIS FOR A NEW TRIAL ON THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF HABITABILITY
AND NO BASIS TO DISTURB THE JURY'S VERDICT FINDING
9. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS AT TRIAL
10. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS ON APPEAL
CONCLUSION39
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Blimka v. My Web Wholesaler, LLC, 143 Idaho 723, 729, 152 P.3d 594, 600 (2007)37 Commercial Ventures, Inc. v. Rex M. & Lynn Lea Family Trust, 177 P.3d 955, 145 Idaho 208, (Idaho Eighteen Mile Ranch, LLC v. Nord Excavating & Paving, Inc., 117 P.3d 130, 141 Idaho 716, (Idaho 2005)39 Hummer v. Evans, 979 P.2d 1188, 132 Idaho 830, (Idaho 1999)40 Sammis v. Magnetek, Inc., 130 Idaho 342, 353, 941 P.2d 314, 325 (1997)......40 Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin, 113 Idaho 37, 740 P.2d 1022 (Idaho 1987..... 22, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 41 Weinstein v. Prudential Property and Cas. Ins. Co., 2010 WL 2163391, (Idaho 2010)......31 Statutes I.C. § 12-121......39 Rules

GENERAL ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Court err by granting a new trial on the issue of "Breach of implied warranty of habitability" which set aside the jury verdict on this isolated count in the Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint?
- 2. Did the District Court err in granting a new trial on the basis of stating that the jury should have been instructed regarding disclaimer of the implied warranty of habitability, and that Plaintiffs were entitled to a new trial on their breach of implied warranty of habitability claim?
- 3. Attorneys' fees and costs should be awarded to the Appellant at trial and on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LEGAL EVENTS

Plaintiffs' filed their first complaint (Vol. 1, pp. 2-9) in this matter on or about

January 5, 2009 against Defendants, alleging breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, fraudulent concealment of known defect, fraudulent misrepresentation of known fact and unjust enrichment.

On or about September 11, 2009, Plaintiffs filed their motion to amend complaint (R. Vol. 1, p. 156).

On or about October 9, 2009 Plaintiffs filed their amended complaint (R. Vol. 1, p. 205). The September 2009 amended complaint added Defendant, Marriott Homes, LLC.

Plaintiffs third amended complaint was filed on or about November 4, 2010 (R. Vol.

3, p. 567a). The amended complaint was allowed after the District Court's memorandum decision on a hearing to amend complaint. (R. Vol. III, pp. 560-566)

Defendants filed their pretrial memorandum in support of jury instructions and trial positions on or about December 28, 2010 (R. Vol. 3, pp. 676-683). Nowhere in Defendants' pretrial memorandum was the implied warranty of habitability discussed.

On or about January 4, 2011, Plaintiff filed its objection to Defendants' requested jury instructions (R. Vol. 4, pp. 786-792). Nowhere in Plaintiffs' objection to Defendants' requested jury instructions is any discussion made of nor is a proposed jury instruction made regarding any breach of warranty of habitability.

FACTUAL EVENTS

A jury trial was had in this matter. The relevant testimony on the issue of warranty of habitability is set forth from the trial transcript to show that the trial court committed error in its interpretation and memory of the facts at trial. (The trial court did not have a written transcript and relied upon personal notes and memory.) In particular, the real estate contract submitted by the plaintiff to the defendants, via realtors, contained a paragraph on the habitability issue which will be discussed in this brief. It is clear the trial court could not vividly recall the testimony considered by the jury.

Plaintiff, William Shawn Goodspeed, testified as follows during direct examination:

- Q. Did you intend to inhabit this home as your primary residence?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And did you request a warranty on this property?

- A. Yes, we requested a standard one year builder's warranty.
- Q. Would you please turn to Exhibit Number 3? Do you recognize this document?
- A. Yes. It's the sales purchase and sales agreement from the transaction.
- Q. Okay. Did you write every word in that purchase and sale agreement?
- A. No. this is, as I understand, kind of a cookie cutter form used for these type of documents.

(Transcript p. 13, ll. 20-25; p. 14, ll. 1-2)

Plaintiff, W. Goodspeed further testified on direct examination:

- Q. Okay and did you sign this purchase and sale agreement?
- A. Yes I did.
- Q. And then did you give it to your agent to convey to the seller?
- A. Yes, I did.

(Tr., p. 15, ll. 21-25; p. 16 l. 1.)

Plaintiff testified as to the status of occupancy of the home as of the time of trial:

- Q. So you're living in the home in Jefferson County, Idaho, at this time?
- A. Yes, it's my primary residence. I work out of town.
- Q. Does your wife live in this home at the current time?
- A. Yes, she does. (Tr., p. 53, ll. 2025; P. 54, l. 1)(emphasis added).

Plaintiff offered further evidence that he and his family continued to reside in the home in question as of the time of trial:

Q. Is your son currently residing in the home in Jefferson County?

- A. Yes, he is.
- Q. So he's habitating in that home or living in that home; correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And your family is living in that home; correct?
- A. That's our primary residence, yes.

(Tr., p. 54, ll. 13-21) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff, William Goodspeed testified that he had hired a realtor to represent his interests, and testified regarding his reading and signing of the Purchase and Sale Agreement:

- Q. You hired a realtor out here. What was his name?
- A. Randy Stoor.
- Q. Randy S-t-o-o-r; is that correct?
- A. That sounds correct. It could be a misspelling of his last name, but I'm not Randy Stoor. It could be S-t-o-o-r.
- Q. And he worked for Coldwell Banker; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You entered into a contract that he wrote; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. That was Exhibit 3, I believe; is that right?
- A. Yes.

(Tr., p. 55, ll. 15-25; p. 56., ll. 1-4)(emphasis added).

Plaintiff, William Goodspeed offered further testimony that the Purchase and Sale Agreement was prepared by his realtor:

Q. By Mr. Dunn: Mr. Goodspeed, the listing agency was Windstar Realty; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And your agent was Randy Stoor, the selling agent; correct?

A. Yes. Well -

Q. And he prepared this purchase and sale agreement; would you not agree?

A. He - yes.

Q. He had it typed at his office and prepared and that was submitted to the listing agent, Dave Chapple; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Plaintiff, William Goodspeed offered testimony that he and his wife, in addition to signing the Purchase and Sale Agreement, initialed each page of the Agreement:

Q. Would that be a fair assessment of page one of Exhibit 3? Is that your initials down there?

A. Yes, they are.

Q. And whose initials appears there, yours and your wife's? WG and SG?

A. Yes.

Plaintiff William Goodspeed testified that realtor he hired explained the Purchase and Sale Agreement to him:

Q. Was this Exhibit 3 [Purchase and Sale Agreement] explained to you by your realtor who you hired?

- A. Yes. (Tr., p. 58, ll. 8-10). (emphasis added).
- Q. And did you agree with all the terms of page one?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Was this Exhibit 3 explained to you by your realtor who you hired?
- A. Yes.
- Q. On page two, we'll go through it a little bit here, is, basically, going through once again dates and times, but your listing broker, once again he puts his name up at the top, Randy Stoor; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And then at the bottom what I'm trying to point out a little bit is the date of 06/17. Can you see that right there?
- A. Yes.
- Q. That's when you signed it, so it was June 17, of '07 you made this offer to Mr. and Mrs. Shippen; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Now page three, I think, is really important.
- THE COURT. Before you go on, I'm not sure if it's critical or not, but I'm questioning from what I have whether that's correct. It looks like page two has his signature and his wife's signature as the buyers on 06/16, and the sellers on 06/17.
- MR. DUNN. That's correct, your Honor. Let me go back to that, because I don't want to deceive anyone.
- Q. by Mr. Dunn: Let me get down to the bottom. There's the Goodspeeds 06/16. I'm sorry Mr. Goodspeed. I got a little ahead of myself 06/16 of '07. And then the Shippens on, at least it's R.S. I assume that stands for Robert Shippen right there on 06/17; is that your understanding?
- A. Yes.

- Q. So June 16th and 17th was the document come into being; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. No on page three is where your realtor makes some it has a place for him on this document to make some representations. That would be under paragraph four, Other Terms and Conditions, right?

A. Yes.

(Transcript p. 55, Il. 15-25; pp. 56-59)

- Q. Now we get to the key of this whole case that the jury is concerned is going to be concerned with. Builder to complete and to complete a drainage/leach system. That was part of your terminology; correct? To complete a drainage/leach system around home. Then it has in parenthesis, walkout basement area. That was added by your realtor; correct?
- A. It was added because it was listed in the MLS listing.
- Q. But it was added by your realtor; correct? A. After review of the MLS listing.
- Q. It was added by your realtor; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And it was added by you; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. And then it talks about mirrors, main bathroom, TVs, other things. You're not claiming any problem except, the drainage/leach system around home (walkout basement area); correct?
- A. I'm confused. Can your repeat the question?
- Q. Sure. The basis of your lawsuit is the builder to complete a drainage/leach system around home walkout basement area; correct?
- A. No, the basis for my lawsuit is the known fact that this house had been flooded before I bought it was not disclosed to me.

Q. Okay. Then this particular item right here, and we'll get to what you want to tell the jury. I understand you want tot tell the jury things, but listen to my prior question. Are you claiming that the builder did not complete a drainage/leach system around the home (walkout basement area)? Are you claiming that did not occur?

A. No.

Q. Your saying that it did occur? It was there?

A. Yes.

Q. And you actually saw it being installed; didn't you?

A. Yes.

Q. And you actually talked to Bob Shippen when it was being installed.

A. Yes.

Q. And you saw him and his other workers installing that through their efforts; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you saw that it had wiring that came from the house; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And maybe,-- I'm just asking this question – maybe you saw that the pump system did drain out through various pipes. Did you see that?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you recall Mr. Shippen telling you that there had been a water problem in the home previously when you viewed this leaching system?

(Transcript p. 63 ll. 16-25; pp. 64, 65)

MR. DUNN: I'm going through the contract to determine what he could or could not do.

THE COURT: Over -- MR. DAVIS: We-re not alleging that there's -

THE COURT: The objection is sustained. Has to have more relevance than simply being in the document.

Q. by Mr. Dunn: You understood the document; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Well let me go back to that page right at the bottom. It says: You are advised, you are advised to consult with any general contractor subject to Idaho Code 5-25. Did you do that?

A. Can you ask the question again?

Q. It says, you are advised to consult with any general contractor subject to Idaho Code Section 5-525. Did you consult with a general contractor?

MR. DAVIS: Objection, again, Your Honor, as to relevance. This section is talking about mechanics liens and the like. I believe that's a disclosure statement as to whether or not there are liens on the property. I don't believe that's relevant to this case.

MR. DUNN: It says regarding the general contractor disclosure statement.

MR. DAVIS: Right. Your Honor, I withdraw my objection. I didn't see that language –

Q. So did you consult with a general contractor prior to purchasing this property?

A. No. (Transcript p. 70)

Plaintiff William Goodspeed offered substantial testimony regarding Paragraph 32 [disclaimer of warranties] of the Purchase and Sale Agreement:

Q. Now just to make certain everybody understands, you had your own private broker who worked for you, and he was agent for you. That was Randy Stoor; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And that's disclosed, so there's no misunderstanding that you didn't have your own private real estate agent to advise you and walk through this document with you; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And it also indicates that the sellers had their own independent real estate agent, Dave Chapple; correct? Doesn't say that. I'm adding a little bit. Dave Chapple was their real estate agent; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So both of you had real estate agents; is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Now this is really significant, so I want you to really pay attention to what I ask you. Paragraph 32 it says as follows: Entire agreement. This agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties respecting the matters herein set forth and supersedes. What does the word supersede mean to you?

MR. DAVIS: Objection. Calls for legal conclusion.

MR. DUNN: I'm just asking what the word supersedes means to him.

THE COURT: Overruled. You may answer.

THE WITNESS: Goes before.

Q. By Mr. Dunn: Supersedes means it overrules everything else; correct?

A. No.

Q. This isn't subsequent to. It supersedes it, overrules everything; right?

A. No. It means that it is - comes after and includes.

Q. Okay. So we'll have to have the Court define what the word supersedes means then. And it says supersedes all prior agreements between the parties respecting such matters. This agreement supersedes all prior agreements between the parties; correct?

- A. That's what it says, yes.
- Q. And you signed this document.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now this goes on to state: No warranties without including, without limitation, any warranty of habitability, agreements or representations not expressly set forth herein shall be binding upon either party. That's what it says; isn't it?
- A. That's what it says. ****
- Q. And you signed this document?
- A. Yes. I don't think the intent of this document is to say that I -
- MR. DUNN: Objection, non-responsive. I only -

THE COURT: You're both speaking at once. You have to just answer the question. Your attorney can ask additional questions if he wants, but you need to answer Mr. Dunn's question and not become argumentative.

THE WITNESS: Repeat the question?

THE COURT: Yeah. Mr. Dunn, would you ask the question again?

- Q. By Mr. Dunn: So this document says no warranties including without limitation any warranty of habitability, agreements or representations not expressly set forth herein shall be binding upon either party. It says that; doesn't it?
- A. Yes. That's what it says.
- Q. And you signed it; correct?
- A. Yes, I did.
- Q. And your wife signed it; correct?
- A. Yes.

Q. 06/16/07. Is that your signature?

A. I responded yes.

Q. At 1:45 p.m.?

MR. DAVIS: Objection. Asked and answered.

MR. DUNN: That hasn't been asked.

THE COURT: Overruled.

Q. by Mr. Dunn: And that's your wife's signature, Shellie Goodspeed; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. 06/16/ 1:45 p.m.; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Did you consider this a contract?

A. Yes. (Tr., p 72, 1. 25 - p. 76, II. 11-12)

Plaintiff, William Goodspeed testified regarding the one-year builder's warranty:

Q. And it [Warranty Deed] was recorded in Jefferson County, Idaho; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And that date was July 7th, of '07 when it was recorded; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. You would agree with me, wouldn't you, that from July 7th of 2007, until July 7th of 2008, you had a one-year warranty per your contract and sale agreement; correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And after that date, you did not have a contractual agreement with Mr.

Shippen, with Marriott Homes, with Shippen construction with any entity after that point in time; correct?

- A. No. My opinion is that -
- Q. Just contractual that's all I'm saying. You didn't have a contract that extended past one year.

Mr. Dunn: So it was one year, correct?

A. Yes.

The District Court ruled that the jury had enough evidence before it to rule on the issue of the warranty of habitability:

- Q. Do you believe it ended July 7th of 2008, as to the contract?
- A. I think the warranty of habitability would extend past that one year.
- Q. That's not my question. My question is did it end on July 1, 2008, as far as the builder's warranty, per the contract.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now do you we need to go back to Exhibit 3 that said there was no warranty of habitability?
- A. If you feel like that's necessary.

THE COURT: I don't. Let's move along. (Emphasis supplied).

Q. By Mr. Dunn: But you-

THE COURT: You've read that three or four times. The jury will have it, so let's move along.

(Transcript p. 82, ll. 7-21). (Emphasis supplied).

Plaintiff, William Goodspeed testified as to the time-frame and the nature of the "water issues" at the home during the one-year builder's warranty period:

- Q. Now you indicated that there was flooding in 2007, 2008, and 2009, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Now in 2007, you indicated that there was no flooding inside the home, but the water level was high outside your yard, correct?
- A. In the yard, yes.
- Q. Never got in the house in 2007, correct?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. 2008, you said that you had some flooding in the home in September of 2008, correct?
- A. That's correct.
- Q. And that's past the one year we talked about; correct?
- A. Correct.

(Tr., pp. 82, Il. 23-25; - p. 83. Il. 1-12).

At trial, Randy Stoor, realtor for the plaintiffs, testified as follows:

- Q. by Mr. Davis: Mr. Stoor, would you please state your name for the record? A. Randy Stoor.
- Q. And what is your address?
- A. I live in Idaho Falls; work at Coldwell Banker Eagle Rock at 57 3rd Street.
- Q. How long have you been a realtor I'm sorry. You were the realtor for the Goodspeeds on this property.
- A. That's correct.
- Q. How long have you been a realtor?

A. I've been licensed since 1976.

(Transcript p. 109, Il. 12-23)

Q. Now if you would turn to Exhibit 3, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3. Do you recognize this document?

A. Yeah, that's a standard purchase and sale agreement we use. This is the offer we made on the property.

Q. I'm sorry. You said that was a standard. Is this a form that's filled out? A. It's a form that's printed by the state association or provided, and we fill in the blanks.

Q. Okay, so kind of a boilerplate type of agreement?

A. Right.

(Transcript p. 118, II. 1-10)

Stoor further testified:

Q. And now this form that you used, it was prepared by somebody from the realtors association, I take it?

A. Attorneys hired by the realtor association in Boise.

Q. And you're probably after this, what, 30 years you are pretty much familiar with this form.

A. Yes.

(Transcript p. 125, Il. 18-25)

Q. And the language that's contained in this form.

A. Yes.

Q. As a part of your commission and your job as a realtor, do you go over this purchase and sale agreement with your client?

A. Yes.

Q. And you try to explain all of the details of the contract? A. Yes. Q. Could I get you to go to paragraph 32.? A. Okay. Q. 32, you there? A. Yes. Q. Could you silently read that to yourself, and then I want to ask you a few questions. A. Okay. Q. Fairly standard language? A. Yes. Q. It's not hard for you to understand as a realtor; is it? A. No. Q. And you think you understand it? A. I think so. Q. What does it mean when it says this agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties respecting the matter set forth and supersedes all prior agreements? What does that mean? A. If there had been some oral or written agreements prior to this, this agreement signed by the parties would supersede or replace it. Q. And what does supersede mean for us? A. Basically, it would replace original or prior agreements. Q. Kind of trumps them, so to speak?

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