UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-14-2012

Goodspeed v. Shippen Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38829

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

The mores of the day have changed and the ordinary home buyer is not in a position to discover hidden defects in a structure. A home buyer should be able to place reliance on the builder or developer who sells him a new home, the purchase of which in so many instances, is the largest single purchase a family makes in a lifetime. Courts will judicially protect the victims of shoddy workmanship. Consumer protection demands that those who buy homes are entitled to rely on the skill of the builder and that the house is constructed so as to be reasonably fit for its intended use. The average purchaser is without adequate knowledge or opportunity to make a meaningful inspection of the component parts of a residential structure.

Tusch Enterprises v. Coffin, 113 Idaho 37, 47, 740 P.2d 1022, 1032 (1987) citing Moxley v. Laramie Builders, Inc., 600 P.2d 733, 735 (Wyo.1979).

The implied warranty of habitability extends to latent (concealed or dormant) defects which manifest themselves within a reasonable time. *Tusch*, 113 Idaho at 50. It extends to latent defects because "it is unrealistic to expect buyers to consult geotechnical and other experts about defects that are not even apparent."³ *Id.* at 47. The builder is the one who created the latent defect and the builder is in the better position to remedy and guard against such defects. *Id.*

If the habitability of the home is impaired, liability attaches to the builder-vendor of the residential property regardless of fault – a form of strict liability. *Id.* at 46 - 47; *Phillip L. Burner & Patrick J. O'Connell on Construction Law*, §9:72 (2002).

Notably, the habitability of the home need only be impaired for a breach of the implied warranty to arise. *Id*.

³ In this case, where the MLS mentioned sub-water issues were in the county, it specifically stated this house did not have sub-water issues and the Goodspeeds relied on that representation. The MLS listing was never altered.

2. The Boiler Plate Terms of the Purchase and Sale Agreement Are Insufficient to Waive the Implied Warranty of Habitability

A disclaimer is strictly construed against the builder-vendor. *Tusch*, 113 Idaho at 45 - 46. This places a heavy burden on the builder-vendor to show the buyer has relinquished the protection afforded to the buyer by public policy and that the buyer has done so knowingly. *Id.* "By this approach, *boilerplate causes, however worded, are rendered ineffective* thereby affording the consumer the desired protection without denying enforcement of what is in fact the intention of both parties." *Id. citing Crowder v. Vandendeale*, 564 S.W. 2d 879 (Mo. 1978) (Emphasis added). A knowing waiver of a warranty will not be readily implied and should be obtained with difficulty. *Tusch*, 113 Idaho at 46; *Myers v. A.O. Smith Harvestore Products, Inc.*, 114 Idaho 432, 437, 757 P.2d 695, 700 (Ct. App. 1988).

"Boiler plate" language is defined as "ready made" or "fixed or standardized contractual language" (i.e. form language). *Black's Law Dictionary*, 2nd Pocket Ed., Bryan A. Garner (2001) "Boilerplate". On the contrary, a term that is individually fashioned in an agreement is not boilerplate language. *Snyder v. Miniver*, 134 Idaho 585, 588, 6 P.3d 835, 838 (2000). In that case, the Court affirmed that a standard earnest money agreement sent through the purchasing agent's real estate agent was a "boilerplate" agreement where it was a pre-printed, generic form. *Id.* at 586 - 588. Even the Idaho District Court has recognized that clauses generally found in most real estate agreements are boilerplate clauses. *See Batchelor v. Payne*, 2009 WL 2929264, 2 - 3 (2009) (Holding a merger clause contained in a purchase and sale agreement was boilerplate language where

the same or similar language can be found in most all real estate purchase agreements). A boilerplate agreement can also be identified as a form contract that has spaces to insert various contract terms. *Tucek v. Huff*, 115 Idaho 905, 905, 771 P.2d 923, 923 (Ct. App. 1989).

Restated, it should be clear to both the seller and the buyer that a disclaimer was intended and accepted. If it is not clear or the disclaimer is found in mere boilerplate language, the disclaimer is construed against the builder-vendor.

In this case, the evidence was clear the alleged disclaimer was boilerplate language. Shawn Goodspeed, Randy Stoor (the Goodspeed's realtor), and even Dave Chappel (the Shippen's realtor) testified this was a form or boilerplate contract commonly used throughout Idaho. Shawn Goodspeed testified:

20	Q	Would you please turn to Exhibit Number 3? Do
21	you re	cognize this document?
22	А	Yes. It's the sales – purchase and sales
23	agreen	nent from the transaction.
24	Q	Okay. Did you write every word in that
25	purcha	se and sale agreement?
1	А	No. This is, as I understand, kind of a
2	cookie	e cutter form used for these types of documents.
[]		
21	Q	Was it your intent that the – let me ask
22	this: W	/as this – other than what we just talked about

- this: Was this other than what we just talked about
- 23 in Section 4, is this a pretty standard form contract?
- 24 A Yeah. I think it's just a form that's used
- by, you know, realtors every day.

Tr. pp. 13:20 - 14:2; 99:21-25 (Emphasis added). Randy Stoor confirmed this was a boilerplate

agreement:

.

24	Q Now if you would turn to Exhibit 3,
25	Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3. Do you recognize this document?
1	A Yeah, that's a standard purchase and sale
2	agreement we use. This is the offer that we made on
3	the property.
4	Q I'm sorry. You said that was a standard. Is
5	this a form that's filled out?
6	A It's a form that's printed by the state
7	association or provided, and we fill in the blanks.
8	Q Okay. So kind of a boilerplate type of
9	agreement?
10	A Right.

Tr. pp. 117:24 - 118:10. (Emphasis added). Even Shippens' counsel recognized the Purchase and

Sale Agreement was a form when inquiring of Randy Stoor:

18	Q And now this form that you used, it was
19	prepared by somebody from the realtors association, I
20	take it?
21	A Attorneys hired by the realtor association in
22	Boise.
23	Q And you're probably after this, what, 30 years
24	you are pretty much familiar with this form.
25	A Yes.

Tr. pp. 125:18 - 25. In fact, the Shippens' own realtor recognized this was a form or boilerplate

agreement:

- 19 Q. (BY MR. DUNN:) Is that a standard real
- 20 estate document?
- 21 A. **Yes.**
- 22 Q. I believe it's got a number on it that's
- 23 **fairly common in southeast Idaho.**
- 24 What is that number?

25	A. RE-21.
1	Q. And so in your experience, could you
2	tell the jury what's the purpose of Plaintiff's
3	Exhibit 3, which is the RE-21?
$[\ldots]$	
9	A. The purpose of the document is to
10	present an offer from a prospective buyer through a
11	Realtor to another Realtor who represents a
12	prospective seller in order to eventually consummate
13	a sale.

R. Ex. 49 Tr. pp. 22:19 - 23:4 and 23:9-13. (Emphasis added). Because the Purchase and Sale Agreement is a boilerplate, cookie cutter, standard form and for the reasons mentioned below, it should be rendered ineffective as a disclaimer of the implied warranty of habitability.

3. The Alleged Disclaimer Is Not Conspicuous And Is Therefore Ineffective.

Disclaiming a warranty also requires a (1) conspicuous provision (text in large, bold, or capital letters) which is (2) clear and unambiguous, fully disclosing the consequences of its inclusion. *Tusch*, 113 Idaho at 45 - 46, 740 P.2d at 1030-1031; *Myers*, 114 Idaho at 437, 757 P.2d at 700. Thus, to disclaim the implied warranty of habitability, not only must the provision meet the clear language requirement, but it must also be conspicuous. Appellants only argue the language was clear, not that it was conspicuous.

The District Judge recognized a definition of "conspicuous" as it relates to commercial transactions under I.C. § 28-1-201:

(10) "Conspicuous," with reference to a term, means so written, displayed, or presented that a reasonable person against which it is to operate ought to have noticed it. Whether a term is "conspicuous" or

not is a decision for the court. Conspicuous terms include the following:

(A) A heading in capitals equal to or greater in size than the surrounding text, or in contrasting type, font, or color to the surrounding text of the same or lesser size; an

(B) Language in the body of a record or display in larger type than the surrounding text, or in contrasting type, font, or color to the surrounding text of the same size, or set off from the surrounding text of the same size by symbols or other marks that call attention to the language.

Idaho Code Ann. § 28-1-201(10) (West). This definition has been accepted in the case of Myers,

114 Idaho at 438, 757 P.2d at 701. In that case, the Court of Appeals held that because the language in the disclaimer contained large, bold, capital letters it was conspicuous. *Id.* While that case dealt with the sale of goods, interestingly it discussed the issue of conspicuous language in the context of disclaiming implied warranties such as the warranty of merchantability and of fitness for a particular purpose–two theories which in essence are the heart of the implied warranty of habitability and are the product of public policy just like the implied warranty of habitability.⁴ Further, that case acknowledges that "[t]he breadth of implied warranties is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code." ⁵ *Id.* at 437. Not insignificantly, even though the buyer had a chance to read the agreement

⁴ See Bethlahmy v. Bechtel, 91 Idaho at 67 – 68, 415 P.2d at 710 – 711.

⁵ That case references Idaho Code § 28-2-316 Exclusion or Modification of Warranties.

In that statute, subsection 2 references language that would satisfy the language requirement of a disclaimer, but recognizes that language must still be conspicuous. Understandably then, there are two parts to a disclaimer of an implied warranty: (1) that the language to disclaim is sufficient, and (2) that it is conspicuous. Subsection 3 of this statute mentions that warranties may be excluded where the purchaser has an opportunity to inspect the goods. However, this Court has stated that buyers of real property are in no position to discover latent defects that may arise as it relates to the habitability of the property. *Tusch*, 113 Idaho at 47, 740 P.2d at 1032. Therefore, subsection 3 would not apply and the disclaimer must contain not only the right language, but also be conspicuous in nature.

in *Myers*, the Court emphasized that this disclaimer was "*not*" like the other print found in other parts of the document. *Id.* at 438 (emphasis in original). Thus, the language element alone is not enough–the way it is displayed also matters.⁶

While Defendants disavow the authority of the Idaho Uniform Commercial Code to define the term "conspicuous", they are firm in their assertion that they are entitled to attorneys fees because the purchase and sale of a home is a commercial transaction. *See Appellant's Brief* at p. 36. That is, Defendants seek relief for attorneys fees under the allegation that a sale of a house is a commercial transaction, but will not defer to the Idaho Code regarding commercial transactions for a definition of conspicuous. Defendants justify this argument with the argument that a home is not a "good". *See Appellant's Brief* at pp. 28 - 29. However, Defendants fail to recognize that the term "conspicuous" is defined under the "General Provisions" of Chapter 1 of that title, not under Chapter 2, dealing with the sale of goods.

Regardless of whether the commercial code applies, while I.C. § 28-1-201(10) contains a very good definition of the term "conspicuous", it is not the only source of understanding for the term "conspicuous." For example, Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines the term "conspicuous" as "obvious to the eye or mind", or "attracting attention". *Merriam-Webster's Dictionary*, "Conspicuous", <u>www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/conspicuous</u> (last updated 2012). *Black's Law Dictionary* defines the term as "clearly visible or obvious". *Black's Law Dictionary*, 2nd Pocket

⁶ See prior footnote.

Ed., Bryan A. Garner (2001) "Conspicuous". Both of these common definitions are in line with the commercial transaction definition of "conspicuous." Text that mirrors the text around it is not obvious to the eye, nor does it attract attention. It is not clearly visible or obvious. Instead, it blends in and is inconspicuous. The typed language is made conspicuous by making it appear in **bold**, *italicized*, <u>underlined</u>, CAPITAL LETTERS, or <u>ALL OF THE ABOVE</u>. Effort must be made to have it stand out or it is not conspicuous.

Other states have recognized that there is more than just a language requirement for a provision to be conspicuous. For example, in *Schulze v. C &H Builders*, the Missouri Court of Appeals again recognized the holding in *Crowder v. Vandendeale*, *supra*, that "to prove a waiver [of the implied warranty of habitability], the seller must 'show [(1)] a conspicuous provision which [(2)] fully discloses the consequences of its inclusion' and [(3)] demonstrate that this agreement was 'in fact" reached; however "[a] knowing waiver of this protection will not be readily implied." 761 S.W.2d 219, 222 (Mo. Ct. App 1988), *citing Crowder* 564 S.W. 2d at 881, n. 4. Even though the court in that case did not rule on whether the language was conspicuous or not, focusing instead on whether the agreement fully disclosed the consequences of its inclusion in light of conflicting provisions, it is clear that being conspicuous is more than a "full disclos[ure of] the consequences of its inclusion" as Appellants argue in their brief here. It must be a *conspicuous* provision that makes the disclosure. *Id.* It has to visibly set itself apart from the other language.

While the Court may expect such an interpretation from the "Show Me State" of Missouri,

this Court has already recognized the Missouri precedent in Tusch. Notably, this Court addressed

the issue of a boilerplate agreement and being conspicuous in tandem:

The majority of states permit a disclaimer of an implied warranty of habitability, but the disclaimer must be clear and unambiguous and such disclaimers are strictly construed against the builder-vendor. *Belt v. Spencer*, 41 Colo.App. 227, 585 P.2d 922, 925 (1978); *Bridges v. Ferrell*, 685 P.2d 409, 411 (Okla.Ct.App.1984); *Crowder v. Vandendeale*, 564 S.W.2d 879 (Mo.1978) (en banc). *We agree with these courts and particularly with the Missouri Supreme Court:*

[O]ne seeking the benefit of such a disclaimer must not only show a [1] *conspicuous* provision which [2] fully discloses the consequences of its inclusion but also that [3] such was *in fact* the agreement reached. The heavy burden thus placed upon the builder is completely justified, for by his assertion of the disclaimer he is seeking to show that the buyer has relinquished protection afforded him by public policy. A knowing waiver of this protection will not be readily implied. *Crowder, supra*, at 881 n. 4 (emphasis in original).

The Court explains its approach: "By this approach, boilerplate clauses, *however worded*, are rendered ineffective, thereby affording the consumer the desired protection without denying enforcement of what is in fact the intention of both parties." *Id.*, at 881. *Accord Petersen v. Hubschman Construction Co., Inc.*, 76 Ill.2d 31, 27 Ill.Dec. 746, 751, 389 N.E.2d 1154, 1159 (1979).

Tusch, 113 Idaho at 45-46, 740 P.2d at 1030 - 1031 (Emphasis and enumeration added). While the

case in *Tusch* did not have a clause regarding a disclaimer of the implied warranty of habitability,

the Court immediately continues its analysis after adopting the Missouri standard:

The disclaimers in the instant case fall woefully short of fulfilling these requirements. Because the implied warranty of habitability is

a creature of public policy, public policy dictates that it be waived only with difficulty. The party asserting that it has been waived bears the burden of proving that it has been knowingly waived. *Clearly,* when <u>no mention</u> is made of the implied warranty of habitability in a contract, and the contract contains only general language stating there are no warranties other than those contained within its four corners, any purported waiver of the implied warranty of habitability is ineffective.

Because we find that the implied warranty of habitability has not been disclaimed, we proceed to the next topic.

Id. (Emphasis added). The Court therefore did not analyze whether the language in the *Tusch* agreement was "conspicuous" because quite simply, the language in that agreement did not exist. However, that does not change this Court's adoption of the standard analyzing whether the implied warranty of habitability has been disclaimed. In doing so, the Court sought to ensure as a matter of public policy the implied warranty of habitability is obtained with difficulty. In essence, this adopted standard contains an ever beloved three part test:

1. <u>The disclaimer provision must fully disclose the</u> consequences of its inclusion;

2. <u>The disclaimer provision must be conspicuous</u>, AND

3. <u>The disclaimer provision must in fact be the agreement</u> reached.

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